Faithfull Modeling of *PTEN* Loss Driven Diseases in the Mouse

Caterina Nardella, Arkaitz Carracedo, Leonardo Salmena, and Pier Paolo Pandolfi

Contents

1	Introduction	
2	Spectrum of Human Diseases Associated with Loss of PTEN	
3	Modeling PTEN Loss in Specific Murine Organs	
	3.1 Brain	
	3.2 Prostate	
	3.3 Breast	
4	In Vivo Deconstruction of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR Axis	149
	4.1 PI3K-PDK-AKT	149
	4.2 TSC1/2-Rheb-mTOR	
5	PTEN Network: Linking the PI3K Signaling Cascade to Other Oncogenic	
	Pathways Through In Vivo Genetic Analysis	
	5.1 PTEN-MAPK Pathway	152
	5.2 Pten and Transcriptional Regulators: Erg and Myc	
	5.3 Pten/p53	155
6	Context-Dependent Differential Outcomes Triggered by Loss of PTEN	
7	Conclusion	
Re	ferences	158

Abstract A decade of work has indisputably defined *PTEN* as a pivotal player in human health and disease. Above all, *PTEN* has been identified as one of the most commonly lost or mutated tumor suppressor genes in human cancers. For this reason, the generation of a multitude of mouse models has been an invaluable

A. Carracedo, L. Salmena, and P.P. Pandolfi (🖂)

Cancer Genetics Program, Beth Israel Deaconess Cancer Center, Department of Medicine and Pathology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02215, USA

e-mail: ppandolf@bidmc.harvard.edu

C. Nardella

Cancer Genetics Program, Beth Israel Deaconess Cancer Center, Department of Medicine and Pathology, Preclinical Murine Pharmacogenetics Facility, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02215, USA

strategy to dissect the function and consequences-of-loss of this essential, evolutionary conserved lipid phosphatase in tumor initiation and progression.

In this chapter, we will summarize the mouse models that have allowed us to faithfully recapitulate features of human cancers and to highlight the network of connections between the *PTEN* signaling cascade and other oncogenic or tumor suppressive pathways.

Notably, *PTEN* represents one of the most extensively modeled genes involved in human cancer and exemplifies the strength of genetic mouse modeling as an approach to gain information aimed to improve our understanding of and ability to alleviate human disease.

1 Introduction

In 1997, *PTEN* (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10) was identified as the frequently lost tumor suppressor gene in a region of human chromosome 10 (10q23) that was known to be highly susceptible to deletion in malignant tumors of the prostate and the brain (Li et al. 1997; Steck et al. 1997).

Soon after its discovery, the work of Maehama and Dixon (1998) unveiled the biochemical function of PTEN as a plasma-membrane lipid phosphatase that hydrolyzes the 3-phosphate on the second-messenger molecule phosphatidylinosi-tol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP₃) to generate phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂). In the following years, several groups (Di Cristofano et al. 1998; Podsypanina et al. 1999; Stambolic et al. 1998) showed that PTEN exerts its function as a tumor suppressor at least in part through negative regulation of the crucial cell survival serine/threonine kinase AKT (PKB).

Since then, PTEN has been shown to affect pleiotropic cellular processes such as cell cycle progression, cell proliferation, senescence, chemotaxis, apoptosis, aging, muscle contractility, DNA damage response, angiogenesis, and cell polarity. In line with its role in multiple crucial cellular processes, PTEN has a role in the pathogenesis of numerous diseases such as diabetes, autism, and cancer.

Indeed, *PTEN* is one of the most frequently mutated, deleted, and silenced tumor suppressor genes in human cancer. The importance of *PTEN* as a tumor suppressor is supported by the observations that germline *PTEN* mutations in humans can result in autosomal dominant syndromes collectively referred to as the *PTEN* hamartomas tumor syndromes (PHTS), characterized by developmental defects, neurological deficits, multiple hamartomas in various tissues including skin, breast, intestine and brain, and an increased risk of breast, thyroid and endometrial cancers (Liaw et al. 1997; Marsh et al. 1997; Zhou et al. 2000).

The identification of *PTEN* as an important tumor suppressor gene led to a rapid outburst of several mouse models aimed at understanding the consequences of *Pten* loss. During this time, these mouse models have been further refined to study specific organs and specific cell lineages. This has allowed us to faithfully recapitulate some features of human cancers and to reconstruct the intricate connections

between the PTEN signaling cascade and other oncogenic or tumor suppressive pathways.

Overall, this chapter will focus on the role of PTEN as a critical player in human diseases and, specifically, on the faithful mouse models generated to dissect the roles of this phosphatase in tumor initiation and progression in different organs. Additionally, a particular relevance will be given to the work carried out *in vivo* in the mice to identify the network of signaling pathways enabling PTEN to exert its tumor suppressive function. Finally, emphasis will be given to the differential outcomes observed in different contexts as a consequence of loss of *Pten*.

2 Spectrum of Human Diseases Associated with Loss of PTEN

Over the last decade a multitude of important studies have identified *PTEN* gene mutations in a wide range of sporadic malignancies and at a high frequency in cancer-susceptibility syndromes.

Sequencing of the PTEN gene has revealed that this non-redundant, evolutionary conserved phosphatase is one of the most commonly mutated tumor suppressors in human malignancies (Cairns et al. 1998; Dahia et al. 1997; Duerr et al. 1998; Rasheed et al. 1997; Shao et al. 1998; Tashiro et al. 1997; Wang et al. 1997).

Genetic alterations of the PTEN gene include various types of abnormalities ranging from point mutations (encoding mostly unstable and/or catalytically inactive proteins) to large chromosomal deletions (Georgescu et al. 1999, 2000; Li et al. 1997; Steck et al. 1997). PTEN mutations can affect both alleles in various cancers with the following frequencies: endometrial (\sim 50%), glioblastoma (\sim 30%), melanoma (\sim 12%), prostate (\sim 10%), and breast (\sim 5%) (Ali et al. 1999; Birck et al. 2000; Cairns et al. 1997; Celebi et al. 2000; Chiariello et al. 1998; Duerr et al. 1998; Haluska et al. 2006; Lin et al. 1998; Saal et al. 2005; Shao et al. 1998; Steck et al. 1997; Tashiro et al. 1997; Wang et al. 1997; Zhou et al. 2002). Loss of one PTEN allele is frequently observed in the following malignancies: glioma (\sim 75%), breast (\sim 40%), colon (\sim 20%), lung (\sim 37%), prostate (\sim 42%) (Bose et al. 1998; Feilotter et al. 1998; Lin et al. 1998; Rubin et al. 2000; Teng et al. 1997).

Importantly, PTEN expression is regulated not only genetically but also at the transcriptional/translational level. DNA methylation, transcriptional repression, and microRNA-directed mRNA degradation and translational abrogation have been reported to be important mechanisms in reducing PTEN expression in several cancers(Wiencke et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2008; Poliseno et al. 2010).

Overall, these findings imply that loss of function of PTEN is a common event in cancer, which is accomplished though several layers of control and mechanisms.

Germline deletion/mutation of PTEN is associated with several autosomal dominant tumor predisposition syndromes including Cowden syndrome, Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba syndrome, Lhermitte-Duclos disease, Proteus syndrome, and Proteus-like syndrome (Liaw et al. 1997; Marsh et al. 1997; Zhou et al. 2000, 2001). These patients often suffer from hamartomas in multiple organs with the risk of

progression to malignant cancer transformation. In addition to hamartoma development, patients affected by Cowden syndrome and Bannayan–Riley–Ruvalcaba also develop macrocephaly (Buxbaum et al. 2007; Herman et al. 2007). This observation led to an association of PTEN mutation with autism, which is characterized by patients with macrocephaly (Butler et al. 2005). This observation expanded the role of PTEN to suppress human diseases of non-neoplastic nature. Recently, PTEN loss has also been associated with neurological diseases such as Parkinson's (Gasser 2007) and metabolic syndromes such as diabetes. The latter implication is supported by studies in animal that have demonstrated that Pten deletion causes an insulin sensitivity phenotype (Stiles et al. 2004, 2006). This finding supports the notion that patients affected by PHTS characterized by Pten mutations also present increased insulin sensitivity (Iida et al. 2000).

Together these data point to a role for PTEN as a key regulator of several cellular processes and that deregulation of its function can causes a wide spectrum of human diseases.

3 Modeling *PTEN* Loss in Specific Murine Organs

Extensive mouse modeling has been performed to elucidate the importance of PTEN and the consequences of its loss in human health and disease.

Homozygous deletion of *Pten* in the mouse embryo is lethal and is characterized by developmental defects in the mesoderm, endoderm and ectoderm (Di Cristofano et al. 1998). Heterozygous *Pten* mice develop multiple neoplasias in a wide spectrum of tissues including prostate, thyroid, colon, lymphatic system, mammary gland, and endometrium (Di Cristofano et al. 1998; Podsypanina et al. 1999; Stambolic et al. 2000; Suzuki et al. 1998). These mouse models also recapitulate some of the features of the PTEN-associated hamartoma syndromes in humans.

To further analyze the consequences of *Pten* loss in other organs, several tissue specific models of *Pten* deletion have been developed using a conditional genetargeting approach (Table 1). In this chapter, we will examine several mouse models of *Pten* conditional inactivation as examples of the human tissues where loss of *Pten* is observed, such as brain, prostate, and breast.

3.1 Brain

The first three mouse models of tissue-specific inactivation of *Pten* were generated in 2001 (Backman et al. 2001; Groszer et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001) with the brain chosen as a target organ. The choice was most likely dictated by the fact that: (1) *PTEN* is very highly frequently mutated in glioblastoma (30%), the most aggressive primary brain tumor in humans (Knobbe et al. 2002) and (2) syndromes associated with germline mutation of PTEN are characterized by neurological abnormalities.

Table 1 Tissue-specific mouse	e models of <i>Pten</i> deletion		
Promoter	Tissue	References	Phenotype
Adipose tissue			
aP2Cre	Adipocytes	Kurlawalla-Martinez et al. (2005)	No alterations in adiposity or plasma fatty acids. Increased systemic glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity
Bone and cartilage			
Col2al Cre	Osteo-chondro progenitors	Ford-Hutchinson et al. (2007)	Alterations in skeletal size and bone architecture. Metastatic osteosarcomas at
0cCre	Osteoblast	Liu et al. (2007)	very low pencuance Increase in bone mineral density throughout life. In vitro osteoblasts lacking Pten show more differentiation and reduced
	Bladder		apoptosis
FabpCre	Urothelium of the bladder, kidney and ureter	Tsuruta et al. (2006), Yoo et al. (2006)	Urothelial hyperplasia in which component cells show enlarged nuclei and increased cell size. With time, 10% of mutant mice spontaneously develop pedicellate papillary transitional cell carcinomas (TCC)
			These mice develop also adenocarcinoma of prostate, seminal vescicles, and urethra; vaginal squamous cell carcinoma; adenocarcinoma of colon
Breast			
MMTVCre	Breast epithelium. Also prostate and skin are targeted	Backman et al. (2004), Li et al. (2002)	Breast development abnormalities. Breast tumors at 9–10 months. High-grade PIN that progresses to prostrate carcinoma. Mild epidermal hyperplasia
			(continued)

Table 1 (continued)			
Promoter	Tissue	References	Phenotype
Central nervous system En2Cre	Vermis	Marino et al. (2002)	No differences in cell differentiation. Mild defect in cell migration and decreased moliferation
GfapCre	Granule cells of cerebellum, dentate gyrus, cortical neurons, in a fraction of Bergmann-glia as well as astrocytes and oligodentrocytes	Backman et al. (2001), Kwon et al. (2001), Yue et al. (2005)	Premature death. Defects in neuronal migration and specialized subcellular structure. Increased cell size. Abnormalities phenocpying the ones observed in patients with Lhermitte-
L7Cre	Purkinje cells	Marino et al. (2002)	Subtle irregularities of Purkinje cell lining but no major architectural disturbances. Noticeable increase in cell size, including thickening of dendrites and descending
NesCre	Neural stem/progenitor cells	Groszer et al. (2001, 2006)	Enlarged, histoarchitecturally abnormal brains, which resulted from increased cell proliferation, decreased cell death, and enlarged cell size. Enhanced self-renewal
NesCre	Layers II–V of cerebral cortex, granular and polymorphic layers of dentate gyrus	K won et al. (2006)	capacity of neural stem cells Abnormal social interaction and exaggerated responses to sensory stimuli. Macrocephaly and neuronal hypertrophy, including hypertrophic and ectopic dendrites and axonal tracts with increased syntese. Abnormal behavior resembling oution concernent disordar.
PomcCre	Hypotalamic proopiomelanortin neurons	Plum et al. (2006)	Hyperphagia and sexually dimorphic diet- sensitive obesity. Neuronal membrane hyperpolarization and reduction in basal

Endothelium			firing rate due to increased ATP-sensitive potassium (KATP) channel activity
Tie2Cre	Endothelial and endocardial cells	Hamada et al. (2005), Suzuki et al. (2007)	Heterozygous mice display enhanced tumorigenesis due to an increase in angiogenesis driven by vascular growth factors. Homozygous mice die before embryonic day 11.5 (E11.5) due to bleeding and cardiac failure caused by impaired recruitment of pericytes and vascular smooth muscle cells to blood vessels, and of cardiomyocytes to the endocardium
Immune system			
CD19Cre	B cells	Anzelon et al. (2003), Suzuki et al. (2003)	Increased serum autoantibodies and elevated numbers of B1a cells. Defects in immunoglobulin class switch recombination associated with impaired induction of activation-induced cytidine deaminase
LckCre	T cells	Suzuki et al. (2001), Hagenbeek et al. (2004), Hagenbeek and Spits (2008)	T-cell lymphomas leading to a premature death. Increased proliferation and decreased apoptosis
LysMCre	Myeloid lineage; granulytes	Zhu et al. (2006), Subramanian et al. (2007)	Augmented chemoattractant-induced transwell migration and superoxide production. Enhanced recruitment of neutrophils to the inflamed peritoneal cavity
LysMCre	Myeloid lineage; macrophages	Kuroda et al. (2008)	Enhanced susceptibility to Leishmania infection
MxICre	HSCs	Yilmaz et al. (2006), Zhang et al. (2006)	Myeloproliferative disease within days and transplantable leukaemias within weeks.
			(continued)

sue Re	ferences	Phenotype
		Enhanced hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) proliferation leading to HSC depletion via a cell-autonomous mechanism
patocytes Hc	rie et al. (2004), Stiles et al. (2004)	Massive hepatomegaly and steatohepatitis with triglyceride accumulation. Insulin hypersensitivity. 100% incidence of hepatoadenomas and 66% of hepatocellular carcinomas
ng epithelium Ya	nagi et al. (2007)	Death caused by hypoxia soon after birth. Surviving mice develop spontaneous lung adenocarcinomas. Mice with postnatal deletion of <i>Pten</i> show lung tumors with
		high penetrance
receatic β -cells and hypotalamus N ₈	uyen et al. (2006), Stiles et al. (2006)	Significant whole-body growth restriction and increased insulin sensitivity Increased islet mass without compromise of beta-cell function. Protection from
pancreatic cell lineages St	nger et al. (2005)	developing streptozotocin-induced diabetes A fraction of mice develop ductal malignancy. Ductal metaplasia results from the expansion of centroacinar cells
static epithelium Tr	otman et al. (2003)	High-grade PIN that progresses to invasive
static epithelium W	ang et al. (2003), Trotman et al. (2003)	prostate caretholita
rcreatic β-cells and hypotalamus N _i pancreatic cell lineages St static epithelium Tr static epithelium W	uye (20) (20) (20) (20) (20)	n et al. (2006), Stiles et al. 06) r et al. (2005) an et al. (2003) et al. (2003), Trotman et al. 03)

PsaCre	Prostatic luminal epithelial cells	Ma et al. (2005c)	High grade PIN with progression to invasive adenocarcinoma and, only in Wang et al. model, lung metastatis Increased size of the luminal epithelial cells, large areas of hyperplasia, focal PIN that progresses tofocal microinvasion and invasive prostate carcinoma
PbCreER(T2)	Prostatic epithelium	Luchman et al. (2008)	Low-grade PINthat progresses to overtly malignant lesions, characterized by high- grade PIN and microinvasive carcinoma
PsaCreER(T2)	Prostatic epithelium	Ratnacaram et al. (2008)	PIN lesions that progresses to adenocarcinoma
Reproductive system			
Gdf9Cre	Oocytes	Reddy et al. (2008)	Activation of the entire primordial follicle pool resulting in premature ovarian failure
TnapCre	Primordial germ cells	Kimura et al. (2003)	Bilateral testicular teratoma, characters. Primordial germ cells with greater proliferative capacity and enhanced pluripotent embryonic germ cell colony formation
Skeletal muscle and heart			
MckCre	Skeletal muscle cells and cardiac myocytes	Crackower et al. (2002), Wijesekara et al. (2005)	Hypertrophy, and decrease in cardiac contractility. Protection from insulin resistance and diabetes caused by high-fat feeding
Skin			
K5Cre	Keratinocytes	Suzuki et al. (2003)	Wrinkled skin because of epidermal hyperplasia and hyperkeratosis. Spontaneous tumors and acceleration in the onset of chemical-induced tumors
DctCre	Pigment producing cells: melanocytes, melanocyte stem	Inoue-Narita et al. (2008)	Half of the mice die shortly after birth with enlargements of the cerebral cortex and
			(continued)

Table 1 (continued)			
Promoter	Tissue	References	Phenotype
	cells, retinal pigment epithelial cells, cells in brain (dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and the cortex)		hippocampus. Resistance to hair graying and susceptibility to carcinogen-induced melanomagenesis
Smooth muscle	×		
TagInCre	Smooth muscle cells	Hernando et al. (2007)	Widespread smooth muscle cell hyperplasia and abdominal leiomyosarcomas, with a very rapid onset and elevated incidence (approximately 80%)
Thyroid gland /			
TpoCre	Thyroind epithelium	Yeager et al. (2007)	Diffuse goiter characterized by extremely enlarged follicles. Increase in the thyrocyte proliferative index. Over two thirds of the mutant females develop follicular adenomas

For instance, patients with Lhermitte–Duclos disease (LDD) develop dysplastic gangliocytoma, which is described clinically as a benign overgrowth of neurons in the cerebellum that causes increased intracranial pressure, ataxia and seizure (Zhou et al. 2003). Although patients affected by LDD have inherited only one normal copy of PTEN, the dysplastic cells have either completely lost PTEN expression or express only the mutant allele due to loss of heterozygosity (LOH); both events are characterized by an increase in the phosphorylation of AKT (Abel et al. 2005; Iida et al. 1998; Zhou et al. 2003). Two of these mouse models generated faithfully recapitulated the features of LDD. In these models, Pten^{flox/flox} mice were crossed with transgenic mice in which Cre recombinase expression is under the control of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (Gfap) promoter. In these mice, Pten is deleted late in the development of granule neurons of the cerebellum and results in a cellautonomous loss of size regulation (Backman et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001). As a consequence, the size of Pten-deficient granule neurons progressively increases without evidence of abnormal proliferation. This observation is reminiscent of the focal lesions in LDD that rarely contain proliferative cells. Furthermore, LDD is characterized by dysplastic neurons ectopically placed in the molecular layer, which is similar to the ectopically positioned granule neurons resulting from a neuronal migration defect in mouse models (Abel et al. 2005; Backman et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001). Indeed, several studies have established that deletion of Pten in different neuronal types during development results in marked defects in migration and patterning in brain (Backman et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001; Marino et al. 2002; Yue et al. 2005). Another similarity between humans and the mouse models is that abnormalities in synaptic structure have been identified in LDD patients as well as in Pten conditional knockout mice (Fraser et al. 2008; Kwon et al. 2006). Overall, these mouse models suggest that the abnormalities observed in LDD can be attributed to key roles of PTEN in neuronal migration, size regulation, and specialized subcellular structure. Notably, this nonproliferative disease resulting from PTEN inactivation, although not malignant, is often associated with premature morbidity.

The third mouse model developed in 2001 utilized the neural stem cell specific nestin promoter (NesCre) to deliver Cre (Groszer et al. 2001) in neural stem cells, thereby resulting in *Pten* deletion throughout the entire brain. These mice succumb to an early postnatal death, presumably due to a continuous increase in brain size with individual cells being larger than those from wild-type mice brains. In contrast to the other two mouse models previously described, these mutant mice showed increased cell proliferation and decreased cell death. Using this model, Groszer et al. concluded that *Pten* most likely negatively regulates neural stem/ progenitor cells self-renewal capability by modulating G_0-G_1 cell cycle entry (Groszer et al. 2006).

Other neurological abnormalities observed in patients with germline mutations of *PTEN* were also modeled in mice. One manifestation of inherited *PTEN* mutation includes macrocephaly; several studies have identified autism or autistic behaviors in macrocephalic PHTS patients (Butler et al. 2005; Goffin et al. 2001). Moreover, it is interesting to note that neurological phenotypes associated with

PHTS are very variable. As outlined above, the development of LDD is characterized by a second hit that inactivates the wild-type allele of PTEN in the lesions of the cerebellum. It is possible that other neurological deficits observed in PHTS patients, such as macrocephaly, mental retardation, and autism, are also associated with second hits that occur stochastically during development. In such a scenario, the timing and specific cell populations in which *PTEN* function is lost during development would determine the specific neurological outcome observed. For instance, a mouse model where *Pten* was deleted in subsets of differentiated neurons in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus showed anxiety-like behavior and decreased learning, that may recapitulate the autistic features of some PHTS patients (Kwon et al. 2006).

Although PTEN is frequently inactivated in malignant human brain tumors, PHTS is not associated with an increased incidence of brain tumors, and mice with heterozygous loss of *Pten* fail to develop brain tumors. Brain tumors are also not observed in conditional knockouts targeting *Pten* deletion in the brain, indicating that cooperating mutations in other genes are required for the neoplastic process (Backman et al. 2001; Fraser et al. 2004; Groszer et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001; Marino et al. 2002) (see following paragraphs).

3.2 Prostate

Prostate cancer and glioblastoma cell lines were the first cellular models where deletion of the chromosomal region containing *PTEN* was reported. These findings led to the identification of *PTEN* as a tumor suppressor gene (Li et al. 1997; Steck et al. 1997). It is reported that the majority of primary prostate cancers show loss of only one allele of *PTEN*, whereas homozygous inactivation of *PTEN* is generally associated with advanced cancer and metastasis (Gray et al. 1998).

Although human and mouse prostates are structurally dissimilar, prostate cancer progression in mice and humans is strikingly similar. In both species, epithelial hyperplasia is followed by low-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), which can progress to high-grade PIN. As the lesion becomes more neoplastic and aggressive, the prostate epithelium invades through the basement membrane into the surrounding stroma, thus establishing a localized yet invasive adenocarcinoma (De Marzo et al. 2003; Marandola et al. 2004).

In an effort to define the role of *PTEN* loss in prostate tumorigenesis, a series of *Pten* loss mouse models, the so called "hypomorphic *Pten* allelic series" (*Pten* heterozygous, *Pten* hypomorphic, and *Pten* conditional knock-out), have been generated (Trotman et al. 2003). Specific deletion of *Pten* in the prostate was achieved by crossing *Pten*^{loxP/loxP} mice with *Probasin-Cre* (*PB-Cre*) transgenic mice. *PB-Cre* transgenic mice express *Cre* recombinase under the control of the *ARR*₂ *Probasin* promoter specifically in the prostate epithelium post-puberty (Wu

et al. 2001). The generation of the "hypomorphic *Pten* allelic series" has revealed that the prostatic epithelium is exquisitely vulnerable to subtle variations of PTEN expression levels. For instance, loss of one allele of *Pten* is associated with the development of high-grade PIN with incomplete penetrance after a long latency (9 months), whereas when the level of *Pten* is reduced to \sim 30% (hypomorphic mouse model), mice developed invasive prostatic adenocarcinoma albeit with incomplete penetrance (Trotman et al. 2003). Furthermore, complete loss of *Pten* results in the development of high-grade PIN (HG-PIN) as early as 8 weeks of age, together with the concomitant activation of cellular senescence response (see below) (Chen et al. 2005). HG-PIN lesions progress to invasive prostate cancer with complete penetrance at 6 months of age, once the senescence response has been evaded (Chen et al. 2005; Trotman et al. 2003). These analyses imply that (1) loss of PTEN is critical for prostate cancer initiation and that (2) the level of PTEN expression is inversely associated with prostate tumorigenesis.

Wang et al. also used *PB-Cre* transgenic mice to generate mice with conditional inactivation of *Pten* in the prostate, which also results in invasive prostate cancer (Wang et al. 2003). Additionally, these mice developed metastatic prostate cancer of the lymph nodes and lung, which is not observed in other mouse models of *Pten* conditional inactivation in the prostate (Abate-Shen et al. 2003; Chen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2003). This may be due to the different genetic background strain of the mice, which is known to influence cancer susceptibility.

In a later report, by crossing $Pten^{loxP/loxP}$ mice with MMTV-Cre transgenic mice, Backman et al. inactivated Pten in the prostate during development (Backman et al. 2004). Deletion of Pten in the prostate before puberty resulted in the onset of neoplastic lesions at a very early time point, with mice displaying high-grade PIN by the age of 2 weeks at complete penetrance that frequently progressed to invasive adenocarcinomas by 7–14 weeks (Backman et al. 2004). These data show that, if Pten has already been deleted in the prostate during development, the incidence, penetrance, and progression of neoplasia are much greater than if Pten is lost during or after puberty.

In 2005, yet another model of complete *Pten* inactivation in the prostate was generated using *Pten^{loxP/loxP}* mice crossed with prostate-specific antigen (PSA)-*Cre* transgenic mice (Ma et al. 2005c). The onset of prostatic neoplastic lesions is significantly delayed in these mice which show focal PIN at the age of 4–5 months. By 7–9 months, focal microinvasion was observed which progressed to frank invasive adenocarcinoma at 10–14 months (Ma et al. 2005c).

Recently, two groups have generated two mouse models where *Pten* deletion is temporally controlled through the use of *Pten*^{loxP/loxP} mice crossed with tamoxifen-inducible Cre recombinase transgenic mice (Luchman et al. 2008; Ratnacaram et al. 2008). Like other models before, deletion of *Pten* results in the development of PIN lesions that later progress to invasive adenocarcinoma.

Together, models of conditional *Pten* inactivation in the prostate clearly demonstrate the sensitivity of the prostatic epithelium to alterations of *Pten* and they recapitulate the sequential stages of the human disease from PIN to invasive prostate cancer where time to progression is dictated solely by the developmental time of *Pten* excision and the remaining dose of functional Pten.

3.3 Breast

A characteristic feature of Cowden disease is the development of benign breast hamartomas that are accompanied by a higher risk of breast cancer. Although somatic *PTEN* mutations are detected only in a smaller fraction of breast cancer cases (Dahia 2000), LOH at the *PTEN* locus (10q23) is frequently found (40%) (Bose et al. 1998; Garcia et al. 1999). Furthermore, immunohistochemical studies suggest that loss of PTEN protein expression is a common event in breast cancer (33–48%), with strong correlation with lymph node metastasis, loss of estrogen receptor staining, and disease related death (Depowski et al. 2001; Perren et al. 1999). Thus, epigenetic mechanisms are hypothesized to be responsible for a number of cases in which PTEN levels are downregulated or even totally ablated in the absence of a detectable mutation.

The relevance of *Pten* in breast tumorigenesis was initially highlighted in the mouse model of *Pten* germline heterozygous loss generated by Stambolic et al. (2000). Female $Pten^{+/-}$ developed mammary tumors at incomplete penetrance, with most of them having features of well-differentiated adenocarcinoma. Similar to CS patients (Schrager et al. 1998), breast lesions in $Pten^{+/-}$ mice displayed marked proliferation of the stroma. The authors observed an increased penetrance of the breast tumors with age in $Pten^{+/-}$ mice thereby suggesting a requirement for additional hits for tumor progression in this tissue.

After that, to fully understand the role of *Pten* in breast tumorigenesis, in 2002 Li et al. crossed *Pten^{loxp/loxp}* mice with transgenic mice expressing MMTV-Cre transgenes in order to achieve *Pten* deletion in the mammary epithelium (Li et al. 2002). The deletion of *Pten* in mammary epithelium triggered increased cell proliferation, hyper-branched ductal structure, precocious development, delayed involution and severely impaired apoptosis. Pten-deficient mammary epithelium also displayed remarkable neoplastic changes. Females with mammary-specific Pten deletion develop tumors as early as 2 months. Histological features of the tumors varied from benign fibroadenomas to pleiomorphic adenocarcinomas. Furthermore, immunohistochemistry analysis revealed up-regulation of cytokeratins 5 and 6 in these mice (Li et al. 2002). Interestingly, this finding nicely correlates with overexpression of these two cytokeratins in human breast tumors of the basal subtype (Sorlie et al. 2001). The basal subtype often occurs in patients with germline BRCA1 mutations and is associated with a poor prognosis. Importantly, it has been recently shown that heterozygous inactivation of *Pten* leads to the formation of basal-like mammary tumors in mice, and that loss of PTEN expression is significantly associated with this subtype of breast cancer in human sporadic and BRCA1-associated hereditary breast cancers (Saal et al. 2008). In addition, Saal and colleagues have identified frequent gross PTEN mutations, involving intragenic chromosome breaks, inversions, deletions and micro copy number aberrations, specifically in BRCA1-deficient tumors (Saal et al. 2008).

It has recently been shown that even a subtle reduction in *Pten* dose determines breast cancer susceptibility (Alimonti et al. 2010). Indeed, *Pten* hypomorphic mice, expressing 80% normal levels of *Pten*, develop a spectrum of tumors, with breast occurring at the highest penetrance (Alimonti et al 2010). Overall, all these observations underscore the essential role of *PTEN* during normal mammary gland development and in suppressing breast cancer formation.

4 In Vivo Deconstruction of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR Axis

The numerous mouse models generated to study the PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway have been valuable tools to shed light on the role of various components of the PI3K signaling cascade in disease and tumorigenesis. Overall, these mouse models have defined the mTOR pathway as a crucial converging node downstream PI3K-AKT signals required for oncogenic transformation driven by loss of *PTEN*.

4.1 PI3K-PDK-AKT

The PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase) pathway starts at the plasma membrane where the binding of ligands to the growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases activate PI3K, which phosphorylates PIP2 to produce PIP3, thereby directly antagonizing PTEN (Klinghoffer et al. 1996).

Class I PI3K contains four p110 isoforms, α , β , γ , and δ . The association between p110 α and tumorigenesis is well established and has been corroborated by the occurrence of gain of function p110 α mutations in human cancer (Samuels and Velculescu 2004). Recently, the p110 β isoform has also been connected to oncogenesis (Ciraolo et al. 2008; Jia et al. 2008). With regards to *PTEN*-loss driven cancer, conditional inactivation of PIK3CB, the gene encoding p110 β , blocked prostate tumorigenesis mediated by loss of *PTEN* whereas prostate-specific knockout of the α -isoform did not alter tumor formation. The observations of Jia and coworkers identify a previously unknown role for p110 β in cancer, specifically in *PTEN* mutated tumors. These studies collectively suggest that p110 β may represent a potential "druggable" target, specially in *PTEN* null cancers.

PI3K signaling induces a series of growth-promoting events through the activation of the protein kinases PDK1 and AKT, which directly bind to and are activated by PIP3 (Alessi et al. 1997; Currie et al. 1999). Upon PIP3 binding, PDK1 induces AKT kinase activity 30-fold by phosphorylating it on residue T308 in addition to the phosphorylation of numerous other target proteins within the T loop (such as Serum and Glucocorticoid-regulated kinases, SGK) enabling their activation (Alessi et al. 1997). AKT, in turn, phosphorylates multiple targets to activate the cell cycle, prevent apoptosis and trigger cellular growth (Manning and Cantley 2007). *In vivo* studies in the mice have genetically highlighted the important epistasis of *Pten* and *Pdk1* and *Akt*. Compound mutant mice have provided clear genetic evidence for the roles of *Akt* and *Pdk1* as mediators of cancer phenotypes identified upon heterozygous Pten-loss in mice. Specifically, Akt1 deficiency suppresses tumor development in *Pten*^{+/-} mice (Chen et al. 2006). Similarly, the hypomorphic expression of Pdk1 (levels that are 80–90% reduced compared with normal) inhibits tumor formation in *Pten*^{+/-} mice (Bayascas et al. 2005). Therefore, these mouse models have validated AKT1 and PDK1 as critical players in mediating tumorigenesis upon PTEN-loss.

4.2 TSC1/2-Rheb-mTOR

Among the many downstream targets of AKT, the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) has been demonstrated to be an essential effector in promoting cell proliferation and susceptibility to oncogenic transformation. mTOR is a serine/threonine kinase that regulates protein synthesis, cell growth, and proliferation in response to pleiotropic inputs including growth factors, nutrients, energy, and stress (Wullschleger et al. 2006). mTOR differentially regulates PI3K/AKT signaling by acting as a key component of two multiprotein complexes: mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) which is activated downstream of AKT, and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) which has been demonstrated to phosphorylate AKT on Ser 473 (Sarbassov et al. 2005). This modification, in conjunction with the phosphorylation on Thr308 by PDK1 triggers full activation of AKT in response to mitogenic stimuli (Sarbassov et al. 2005). Moreover, in many cell types, mTORC1 has been reported to elicit a negative feedback regulation on the PI3K pathway through the ability of its downstream target ribosomal S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) to inhibit IRS-1 (reviewed in Guertin and Sabatini 2007). The elusive crosstalk between the AKT and mTOR pathways was uncovered by the finding that tuberous sclerosis complex 1 (TSC1) and 2 (TSC2) negatively regulates mTORC1 (Gao et al. 2002; Tapon et al. 2001). These studies demonstrated that AKT phosphorylates and inactivates the TSC1/TSC2 complex, and as a consequence results in mTORC1 activation (Jaeschke et al. 2002; Tee et al. 2002). Specifically, Ras homologue enriched in brain (Rheb), a small guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding protein, was discovered as a novel substrate for TSC2, which could also lead to the activation of mTOR (Garami et al. 2003; Inoki et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2003). TSC2 was shown to display a GTPase activating protein (GAP) activity towards the Rheb GTPase; this event stimulates the intrinsic GTP-hydrolysis activity of Rheb to promote its transition from an active GTP-bound to an inactive guanosine diphosphate (GDP)-bound form (Garami et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2003). Conversely, inactivation of the TSC1/TSC2 complex by AKT phosphorylation, results in GTP loading and activation of Rheb, which ultimately promotes the activation of mTORC1. AKT also promotes mTORC1 activity through phosphorylation of PRAS40, which prevents its inhibitory function



Fig. 1 Analysis of the contribution of the PI3K pathway to *Pten* loss-driven disease, through the combination of genetic events in the mouse. *Pten*-loss driven disease is accelerated by Tsc2 heterozygous loss (**a**) as well as Rheb transgenic expression (**b**), whereas it is opposed by loss of *mTOR* (**c**)

on mTORC1 (reviewed in Guertin and Sabatini 2007). When active, mTORC1 promotes cell growth through phosphorylation of various regulators of translation including the well-characterized ribosomal S6K1 which activates the S6 ribosomal protein (S6), and the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1 (4EBP1) which leads to its uncoupling from the elongation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E; Wullschleger et al. 2006).

Several mouse models have validated the importance of the mTOR pathway in further promoting tumorigenesis driven by *Pten* loss. For instance, oncogenic events proximal to mTOR activation such as *Tsc2* heterozygosity as well as *Rheb* overexpression cooperate with *Pten* haploinsufficiency to accelerate tumorigenesis (Ma et al. 2005b; Manning et al. 2005; Nardella et al. 2008) (Fig. 1a, b). A definitive proof of principle for a major role of mTOR in prostate tumorigenesis driven by *Pten*-loss was uncovered by the conditional inactivation of *mTor* in *Pten* null prostates. In these prostates, *mTor* deletion markedly suppressed the tumor initiation and progression observed in *Pten*-null mice (Nardella et al. 2009) (Fig. 1c). These findings are corroborated by the work of Guertin et al, which showed that Rictor, one of the components of the mTORC2 multiprotein complex, is also required for *Pten*-loss induced tumorigenesis in the mice (Guertin et al. 2009).

Collectively, these data have important therapeutic application in the treatment of cancer triggered by loss of PTEN, since mTOR is a kinase with activity that is amenable to pharmacological inhibition. Indeed, efforts have been placed to develop and improve upon drugs that inhibit mTOR activity. The first generation of mTOR inhibitors directed solely against mTORC1, such as Rapamycin have had limited success in the clinic. We now await the development and testing of drugs targeting both mTORC1 and mTORC2 for the treatment of tumors triggered by PTEN deficiency and aberrant PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling.

5 PTEN Network: Linking the PI3K Signaling Cascade to Other Oncogenic Pathways Through In Vivo Genetic Analysis

It is now well established that the PI3K pathway is intimately linked to several other oncogenic events including activated MAPK signaling, ETS-related gene (ERG) overexpression, and loss of the tumor suppressor gene p53. Below, we will describe the efforts to generate faithful mouse models of human cancers which recapitulate critical cooperative events identified in human cancer.

5.1 PTEN-MAPK Pathway

The RAS oncogene and the PTEN tumor suppressor are upstream of two of the most predominant oncogenic signaling pathways, MAPK and PI3K, respectively (Dhillon et al. 2007; Engelman et al. 2006). The signaling emanating from these two pathways is however complicated by a remarkable number of interconnections (Carracedo et al. 2008).

Ras is the upstream regulator of the MAPK pathway and frequently activated in cancer through mutations (G12D, G12V) which are sufficient to initiate cancer in the mouse (Fisher et al. 2001; Johnson et al. 2001). Ras mutations lead to hyperactivation of the MAPK pathway, which cross-talks with the PI3K cascade through the regulation of common targets such as BAD and TSC2 (Datta et al. 1996; Fang et al. 1999; Gupta et al. 2007; Ma et al. 2005a). In addition, activated Ras leads to loss of PTEN expression through c-Jun-mediated transcriptional events (Vasudevan et al. 2007). Consistent with this notion, mutations in RAS and PTEN in cancer tend to be mutually exclusive RAS mutations are prevalent in pancreatic, lung, and colon cancers, but not in glioblastomas whereas the opposite is true for PTEN mutation (Liu et al. 1997; Simpson and Parsons 2001).

Downstream of RAS, RAF (BRAF, CRAF, and ARAF) serine/threonine protein kinases regulate MAPK signaling (Balmanno and Cook 2009; Moodie et al. 1993). BRAF is also frequently found mutated in cancer (principally V600E mutation), most frequently in melanoma where BRAF mutation is observed in 50–70% of cell lines and tumors, and does not overlap with RAS mutations (Halilovic and Solit 2008). Unlike RAS, concomitant genetic alterations in PTEN and BRAF have been found in melanoma and shown to be cooperative events in the mouse (see below), therefore reinforcing the complexity of the interaction between components within these two pathways (PTEN-PI3K and MAPK) in cancer.

Combining PTEN and BRAF mutations to model human metastatic melanoma in mouse. Mutant activated BRAF (BRAF^{V600E}) can induce senescence in cultured melanocytes providing an explanation for the high frequency of BRAF mutations in benign nevi (Denoyelle et al. 2006; Dhomen et al. 2009; Michaloglou et al. 2005; Taube et al. 2009). Hence, overcoming oncogene-induced senescence may be critical for melanomagenesis. Progression to malignant melanoma is invariably accompanied by silencing of one or more tumor suppressor genes, most commonly PTEN or CDKN2A (Chin et al. 2006; Garraway et al. 2005). Additionally, the combination of mutated BRAF and silencing of PTEN expression is observed in 20% of human melanomas (Backman et al. 2004). While *Pten*-loss or BRAF^{V600E} activation alone did not have a dramatic consequence for melanoma onset and progression in mice, compound BRaf^{V600E}-*Pten*-Null mice succumbed to an aggressive form of metastatic melanoma (Dankort et al. 2009) (Fig. 2a). Of note, combinatorial inhibition of MAPK and mTORC1 led to the reduction of melanoma



Fig. 2 Genetic interventions in the mouse that have allowed the generation of faithful mouse models resembling human disease. Faithful mouse models of human melanoma (\mathbf{a}), prostate cancer onset and progression (\mathbf{b}), glioblastoma multiforme, bladder cancer, and advanced prostate cancer (\mathbf{c})

formation, implying that this pharmacological approach may be an effective therapeutic avenue in the treatment of this type of cancer. Therefore, the $Pten^{-/-}$; BRaf^{V600E} melanoma model, together with other recently developed genetically modified melanoma mouse models (Goel et al. 2009), represent an invaluable tool for modeling of melanoma in the mouse and the evaluation of therapeutic approaches in the treatment of this deadly disease. Importantly, whether PTEN is required for the bypass and senescence induced by BRAF mutation in melanoma remains to be determined, and might add complexity to the already diverse tissuespecific outcomes of *Pten*-loss in vivo (see below).

5.2 Pten and Transcriptional Regulators: Erg and Myc

As mentioned above, PTEN is frequently lost or downregulated in prostate cancer (Salmena et al. 2008). Recently, the translocation of an ETS transcription factor gene (ERG or ETV1) to the TMPRSS2 gene promoter region, which contains androgen responsive elements, has been identified in prostate tumors (Tomlins et al. 2005). TMPRSS2-ERG is the first recurrent translocation event to be described in human tumors. It occurs in approximately 40% of prostate tumors and results in an aberrant androgen-regulated expression of ERG (Perner et al. 2007). In mice, transgenic ERG expression in the prostate leads to an unremarkable phenotype (Carver et al. 2009a), suggesting that ERG overexpression is not an initiating event in prostate cancer, in line with the notion that TMPRSS22-ERG translocation is rarely found in early lesions (Balmanno and Cook 2009; Carver et al. 2009b).

On the other hand, genetic lesions such as amplification and polymorhisms at 8q24, where c-MYC is located, are robustly associated with prostate cancer risk (Amundadottir et al. 2006; Bubendorf et al. 1999; El Gedaily et al. 2001; Gudmundsson et al. 2007; Haiman et al. 2007; Qian et al. 1997; Tsuchiya et al. 2002; Witte 2007; Yeager et al. 2007). Furthermore, recent studies have shown that over-expression of c-MYC is not restricted to advanced/late prostate cancer lesions, but occurs also in early lesions (Gurel et al. 2008). Additional studies are needed in order to determine the mechanisms underlying the frequent over-expression of c-MYC in prostate cancer, and to assess whether this is also a consequence of 8q24-polymorphism-relates transcriptional events or may in fact be the result of post-transcriptional mechanisms (Pomerantz et al. 2009).

Seeking a faithful model of prostate cancer in the mouse: Combinatorial mutation of PTEN with ERG and MYC. Loss of PTEN is frequently accompanied by the translocation of TMPRSS22-ERG in prostate cancer (Balmanno and Cook 2009; Carver et al. 2009a). Modeling the compound loss of *Pten* and *Erg* overexpression (Probasin-transgenic Erg, Erg^{TG}) in the mouse prostate has uncovered a strong cooperativity between these two genetic events (Balmanno and Cook 2009; Carver et al. 2009a) (Fig. 2b). Whereas *Pten* heterozygosity leads to high-grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN) lesions starting at the age of 9 months, compound $Pten^{+/-}$ -Erg^{TG} mutants develop HGPIN by 2 months of age, which progresses to invasive cancer by the age of 6 months.

c-MYC transgenic expression in the prostate leads to hyperproliferation and PIN (Ellwood-Yen et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2000). Moreover, Pten-heterozygous loss cooperated with c-MYC to induce high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN)/cancer lesions, which harbor loss of the wild type *Pten* allele (Kim et al. 2009) (Fig. 2b).

Overall, *Pten^{+/-}*-Erg^{TG} and *Pten^{+/-}*; cMYC^{TG} prostate cancer models likely represents the most faithful models of prostate cancer initiation and progression to date, since they recapitulate the precise sequence of mutagenic events occurring in a large fraction of human prostate cancers. However, unlike human prostate cancer, which exhibits a highly metastatic tropism to the bone in later stages, mouse models have thus far failed to recapitulate these late events faithfully. Hence, additional genetic studies and novel combinatorial efforts in the mouse are required to generate better models of human prostate cancer progression to metastasis.

5.3 Pten/p53

In terms of overall frequency, p53 is undoubtedly the most frequently mutated tumor suppressor gene in human cancers (Levine et al. 2004; Vogelstein et al. 2000) with PTEN following in second (Cantley and Neel 1999; Simpson and Parsons 2001). The spectrum of human cancers associated with p53 and PTEN mutation are very different. (Fujisawa et al. 2000; Kato et al. 2000; Koul et al. 2002; Kurose et al. 2002). Mutations of p53 occur at high frequencies in lung, colon and breast cancers, whereas PTEN mutations are mostly found in glioblastoma, endometrial cancer, malignant melanoma, and prostate cancer. However, compound loss of *PTEN* and p53 has been reported in glioblastoma (Han et al. 2008; Salmena et al. 2008), bladder cancer (Puzio-Kuter et al. 2009) and advanced/metastatic prostate cancer (Chen et al. 2009).

Mouse models of combined loss of Pten and p53 in glioblastoma, bladder and prostate cancer. In glioblastoma, the impact of combined Pten and Trp53 loss has been recently reported in a model of concomitant deletion of Pten (in heterozygosity) and Trp53 in the GFAP+ cell lineage. These mice develop an acute and lethal form of glioblastoma multiforme (Fig. 2c). Importantly, this mouse model displays features reminiscent of the pathological lesions observed in human glioblastoma multiforme (Zheng et al. 2008). Mechanistically, compound loss of Pten and Tp53 in neural stem cells leads to increased cell renewal and decreased differentiation in a MYC-dependent fashion (Zheng et al. 2008).

Bladder cancer is a major cause of cancer morbidity and mortality (Jemal et al. 2005). Combined p53 and PTEN losses have been identified in invasive bladder cancer and are reportedly causal factors that predict poor outcome (Puzio-Kuter et al. 2009). Indeed, combined loss of Trp53 and Pten in mice results in lesions with

characteristics of human carcinoma in situ with complete penetrance at 6 months of age(Puzio-Kuter et al. 2009) (Fig. 2c).

In prostate cancer, partial loss of the *PTEN* tumor suppressor gene is a prevalent event (see above). However, complete loss of *PTEN* is infrequent in early lesions and is restricted to advanced cancers. Through the analysis of acute complete conditional loss of *Pten* in the prostatic epithelium, we found that one plausible explanation for this phenomenon is the fact that complete acute loss of *Pten* elicits a p53-dependent failsafe senescence response which opposes tumor progression, (Chen et al. 2005). In agreement with this notion and the fact that in human prostate cancer *p53* loss is a late event observed prevalently in advanced lesions, compound loss of *Pten* and *Trp53* in the mouse prostate leads to a lethal form of advanced prostate cancer where the senescence response has been evaded (Chen et al. 2005). In spite of the local aggressiveness of these tumors, *Pten/Trp53* compound mutants, surprisingly, do not develop metastasic prostate cancer (Chen et al. 2005).

Although p53 and *PTEN* represent the most frequently lost of all tumor suppressors, further studies are required to precisely determine the frequency and the timing of their loss, and the specific tissues where it occurs. However, modeling these mutations in the mouse has already allowed the generation of faithful models of advanced prostate, bladder cancers, and glioblastoma that will prove extremely valuable to study the biology of these cancers and to test novel therapeutic modalities in preclinical studies.

6 Context-Dependent Differential Outcomes Triggered by Loss of *PTEN*

The large number of studies reporting phenotypes of *Pten* conditional knockout mice has highlighted the function of *Pten* in different cell and tissue types.

Although the PI3K pathway is ubiquitous, PTEN-mediated regulation of the PI3K/AKT pathway results in cell context-dependent outcomes such as cell size, proliferation, survival and senescence. Furthermore, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting that differential outcomes can be due to differential timing of *Pten* loss in specific stages of the development within the same tissue.

Cell size. Conditional knock-out mice show that loss of *Pten* may influence cell size or cell number depending on the specific context. The brain is an example of where selective deletion of *Pten* in specific cell types such as granule neurons of the cerebellum and dentate gyrus, cerebellar precursor cells and Purkinje neurons results in a cell-autonomous size increase in Pten-deficient cells (Backman et al. 2001; Kwon et al. 2001; Marino et al. 2002).

Cell number. In other settings, the consequences of *PTEN* loss determines changes in cell number, due to the combined effects of proliferation and cell survival, rather than aberrant cell size. Conditional deletion of *Pten* caused increased proliferation, decreased apoptosis and tumorigenesis, as exemplified in keratinocytes (Backman et al. 2004; Suzuki et al. 2004), prostatic epithelium

(Backman et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2003), mammary epithelium (Li et al. 2002), germ cells (Kimura et al. 2003) and hepatocytes (Horie et al. 2004). Overall, these examples suggest that the cellular context strongly influences the specific outcome of *PTEN* deficiency.

Cellular senescence. PTEN does not exert its tumor suppressive function in isolation, but cross-talks extensively with other tumor suppressors, including p53. Therefore, the status of the p19ARF/p53 network in the different tissues can also affect the differential context-dependent outcomes dictated by the loss of *Pten*.

This is nicely exemplified by the response of the prostatic epithelium upon complete inactivation of *Pten*. Surprisingly, Chen et al. showed that complete acute loss of *PTen* in the prostate did not provide a proliferative advantage as would be expected, but instead promoted a strong p53-dependent senescence response that opposed tumor progression (Chen et al. 2005). As predicted from these findings, combined inactivation of *Pten* and *Trp53* leads to unconstrained tumor growth as demonstrated by the generation of massive invasive prostate tumors. This implies that complete ablation of *PTEN* can be detrimental to tumor growth in the absence of p53 mutations and highlights the importance of haploin-sufficiency or partial *PTEN* impairment in tumor progression. Clinically, these findings provide an explanation as to why complete *PTEN* loss is not frequently observed at cancer presentation.

Yilmaz et al. (2006) suggested that the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) compartment may also be a tissue where complete loss of *Pten* triggers a senescence response (Yilmaz et al. 2006). Deletion of *Pten* in the adult HSCs results in a different outcome in normal hematopoietic stem cells versus leukemia-initiating cells (Yilmaz et al. 2006). Specifically, the authors show that deletion of *Pten* results in the generation of leukemic stem cells and concomitant depletion of normal HSCs. The mechanism responsible for the depletion of Pten-deficient HSCs remains to be elucidated but it has been speculated that *Pten* deficiency induces a senescence response in HSCs whereas the leukemia-initiating cells might acquire secondary mutations that inactivate the senescence response (Yilmaz et al. 2006).

Differential outcomes. In certain tissues, p53 mutations are not required for tumors to progress upon *Pten* loss because p53 is repressed through different mechanisms, and consequently cellular senescence is not observed. This is well exemplified by the deletion of *Pten* in smooth muscle, which results in the development of leiomyosarcomas with very high penetrance (80%) (Hernando et al. 2007). In response to loss of *Pten* the authors observed a substantial upregulation of p19Arf in the sarcoma cells, without concomitant induction of p53. In addition, they observed no evidence of cellular senescence either in the hyperplastic tissue or in the sarcomas. However, marked Mdm2 levels in leiomyosarcoma cells compared to normal smooth muscle of *Pten*-null mice, which kept p53 functionally repressed, thus reducing the need for p53 mutations usually required for tumor progression. In sum, Mdm2 stabilization promoted by Akt phosphorylation seems to prevail over Mdm2 inhibition by p19Arf in *Pten*-null smooth muscle cells, resulting in p53 functional inactivation and thereby tumor development (Hernando et al. 2007).

7 Conclusion

Tremendous technology advances have allowed us to gain powerful insight into the molecular and genetic determinants that drive cancer. Mouse models have been at the forefront of this revolution of information that has allowed us to faithfully recapitulate the features of tumor initiation and progression observed in human cancer. Mouse models of *Pten* loss have shed light on the critical roles of Pten in tumor suppression, specifically as a regulator of cell size, proliferation rate, and failsafe responses, such as senescence, in specific tissues. As one of the "most modeled" of all human cancer genes, Pten mouse models are exemplary of the power of genetic modeling and the success that can be achieved through such studies.

Further insight into the function of PTEN genetic mutations will rely upon the generation of specific point mutations knock-in mice models, which can inform us not only about canonical PTEN function, but the ever-increasing role of PI3K and AKT independent functions of PTEN. These models will provide further understanding of the regulatory mechanisms that affect the role of this protein in normal development and tumorigenesis.

Translation of the information acquired in mice has been and will be extremely useful for the preclinical evaluation of targeted therapeutic anti-cancer agents thereby dramatically improving our ability to cure this and other diseases.

References

- Abate-Shen C, Banach-Petrosky WA, Sun X, Economides KD, Desai N, Gregg JP, Borowsky AD, Cardiff RD, Shen MM (2003) Nkx3.1; Pten mutant mice develop invasive prostate adenocarcinoma and lymph node metastases. Cancer Res 63:3886–3890
- Abel TW, Baker SJ, Fraser MM, Tihan T, Nelson JS, Yachnis AT, Bouffard JP, Mena H, Burger PC, Eberhart CG (2005) Lhermitte-Duclos disease: a report of 31 cases with immunohistochemical analysis of the PTEN/AKT/mTOR pathway. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 64:341–349
- Alessi DR, James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, Cohen P (1997) Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha. Curr Biol 7:261–269
- Ali IU, Schriml LM, Dean M (1999) Mutational spectra of PTEN/MMAC1 gene: a tumor suppressor with lipid phosphatase activity. J Natl Cancer Inst 91:1922–1932
- Alimonti A, Carracedo A, Clohessy JG, Trotman LC, Nardella C, Egia A, Salmena L, Sampieri K, Haveman WJ, Brogi E, Richardson AL, Zhang J, Pandolfi PP (2010) Subtle variations in Pten dose determine cancer susceptibility. Nat Genet 42(5):454–458
- Amundadottir LT, Sulem P, Gudmundsson J, Helgason A, Baker A, Agnarsson BA, Sigurdsson A, Benediktsdottir KR, Cazier JB, Sainz J et al (2006) A common variant associated with prostate cancer in European and African populations. Nat Genet 38:652–658
- Anzelon AN, Wu H, Rickert RC (2003) Pten inactivation alters peripheral B lymphocyte fate and reconstitutes CD19 function. Nat Immunol 4(3):287–294
- Backman SA, Stambolic V, Suzuki A, Haight J, Elia A, Pretorius J, Tsao MS, Shannon P, Bolon B, Ivy GO, Mak TW (2001) Deletion of Pten in mouse brain causes seizures, ataxia and defects in soma size resembling Lhermitte-Duclos disease. Nat Genet 29:396–403

- Backman SA, Ghazarian D, So K, Sanchez O, Wagner KU, Hennighausen L, Suzuki A, Tsao MS, Chapman WB, Stambolic V, Mak TW (2004) Early onset of neoplasia in the prostate and skin of mice with tissue-specific deletion of Pten. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:1725–1730
- Balmanno K, Cook SJ (2009) Tumour cell survival signalling by the ERK1/2 pathway. Cell Death Differ 16:368–377
- Bayascas JR, Leslie NR, Parsons R, Fleming S, Alessi DR (2005) Hypomorphic mutation of PDK1 suppresses tumorigenesis in PTEN(+/-) mice. Curr Biol 15:1839–1846
- Birck A, Ahrenkiel V, Zeuthen J, Hou-Jensen K, Guldberg P (2000) Mutation and allelic loss of the PTEN/MMAC1 gene in primary and metastatic melanoma biopsies. J Invest Dermatol 114:277–280
- Bose S, Wang SI, Terry MB, Hibshoosh H, Parsons R (1998) Allelic loss of chromosome 10q23 is associated with tumor progression in breast carcinomas. Oncogene 17:123–127
- Bubendorf L, Kononen J, Koivisto P, Schraml P, Moch H, Gasser TC, Willi N, Mihatsch MJ, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP (1999) Survey of gene amplifications during prostate cancer progression by high-throughout fluorescence in situ hybridization on tissue microarrays. Cancer Res 59:803–806
- Butler MG, Dasouki MJ, Zhou XP, Talebizadeh Z, Brown M, Takahashi TN, Miles JH, Wang CH, Stratton R, Pilarski R, Eng C (2005) Subset of individuals with autism spectrum disorders and extreme macrocephaly associated with germline PTEN tumour suppressor gene mutations. J Med Genet 42:318–321
- Buxbaum JD, Cai G, Chaste P, Nygren G, Goldsmith J, Reichert J, Anckarsater H, Rastam M, Smith CJ, Silverman JM, Hollander E, Leboyer M, Gillberg C, Verloes A, Betancur C (2007) Mutation screening of the PTEN gene in patients with autism spectrum disorders and macrocephaly. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 144B:484–491
- Cairns P, Okami K, Halachmi S, Halachmi N, Esteller M, Herman JG, Jen J, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, Sidransky D (1997) Frequent inactivation of PTEN/MMAC1 in primary prostate cancer. Cancer Res 57:4997–5000
- Cairns P, Evron E, Okami K, Halachmi N, Esteller M, Herman JG, Bose S, Wang SI, Parsons R, Sidransky D (1998) Point mutation and homozygous deletion of PTEN/MMAC1 in primary bladder cancers. Oncogene 16:3215–3218
- Cantley LC, Neel BG (1999) New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:4240–4245
- Carracedo A, Ma L, Teruya-Feldstein J, Rojo F, Salmena L, Alimonti A, Egia A, Sasaki AT, Thomas G, Kozma SC, Papa A, Nardella C, Cantley LC, Baselga J, Pandolfi PP (2008) Inhibition of mTORC1 leads to MAPK pathway activation through a PI3K-dependent feedback loop in human cancer. J Clin Invest 118:3065–3074
- Carver BS, Tran J, Chen Z, Carracedo-Perez A, Alimonti A, Nardella C, Gopalan A, Scardino PT, Cordon-Cardo C, Gerald W, Pandolfi PP (2009a) ETS rearrangements and prostate cancer initiation. Nature 457:E1, discussion E2–E3
- Carver BS, Tran J, Gopalan A, Chen Z, Shaikh S, Carracedo A, Alimonti A, Nardella C, Varmeh S, Scardino PT, Cordon-Cardo C, Gerald W, Pandolfi PP (2009b) Aberrant ERG expression cooperates with loss of PTEN to promote cancer progression in the prostate. Nat Genet 41:619–624
- Celebi JT, Shendrik I, Silvers DN, Peacocke M (2000) Identification of PTEN mutations in metastatic melanoma specimens. J Med Genet 37:653–657
- Chen Z, Trotman LC, Shaffer D, Lin HK, Dotan ZA, Niki M, Koutcher JA, Scher HI, Ludwig T, Gerald W, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2005) Crucial role of p53-dependent cellular senescence in suppression of Pten-deficient tumorigenesis. Nature 436:725–730
- Chen ML, Xu PZ, Peng XD, Chen WS, Guzman G, Yang X, Di Cristofano A, Pandolfi PP, Hay N (2006) The deficiency of Akt1 is sufficient to suppress tumor development in Pten+/- mice. Genes Dev 20:1569–1574
- Chen Z, Carracedo A, Lin HK, Koutcher JA, Behrendt N, Egia A, Alimonti A, Carver BS, Gerald W, Teruya-Feldstein J, Loda M, Pandolfi PP (2009) Differential p53-independent outcomes of p19(Arf) loss in oncogenesis. Sci Signal 2:ra44

- Chiariello E, Roz L, Albarosa R, Magnani I, Finocchiaro G (1998) PTEN/MMAC1 mutations in primary glioblastomas and short-term cultures of malignant gliomas. Oncogene 16:541–545
- Chin L, Garraway LA, Fisher DE (2006) Malignant melanoma: genetics and therapeutics in the genomic era. Genes Dev 20:2149–2182
- Ciraolo E, Iezzi M, Marone R, Marengo S, Curcio C, Costa C, Azzolino O, Gonella C, Rubinetto C, Wu H et al (2008) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110beta activity: key role in metabolism and mammary gland cancer but not development. Sci Signal 1:ra3
- Crackower MA, Oudit GY, Kozieradzki I, Sarao R, Sun H, Sasaki T, Hirsch E, Suzuki A, Shioi T, Irie-Sasaki J et al (2002) Regulation of myocardial contractility and cell size by distinct PI3K-PTEN signaling pathways. Cell 110(6):737–749
- Currie RA, Walker KS, Gray A, Deak M, Casamayor A, Downes CP, Cohen P, Alessi DR, Lucocq J (1999) Role of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate in regulating the activity and localization of 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1. Biochem J 337(Pt 3):575–583
- Dahia PL (2000) PTEN, a unique tumor suppressor gene. Endocr Relat Cancer 7:115-129
- Dahia PL, Marsh DJ, Zheng Z, Zedenius J, Komminoth P, Frisk T, Wallin G, Parsons R, Longy M, Larsson C, Eng C (1997) Somatic deletions and mutations in the Cowden disease gene, PTEN, in sporadic thyroid tumors. Cancer Res 57:4710–4713
- Dankort D, Curley DP, Cartlidge RA, Nelson B, Karnezis AN, Damsky WE Jr, You MJ, DePinho RA, McMahon M, Bosenberg M (2009) Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat Genet 41:544–552
- Datta K, Bellacosa A, Chan TO, Tsichlis PN (1996) Akt is a direct target of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Activation by growth factors, v-src and v-Ha-ras, in Sf9 and mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 271:30835–30839
- De Marzo AM, Meeker AK, Zha S, Luo J, Nakayama M, Platz EA, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (2003) Human prostate cancer precursors and pathobiology. Urology 62:55–62
- Denoyelle C, Abou-Rjaily G, Bezrookove V, Verhaegen M, Johnson TM, Fullen DR, Pointer JN, Gruber SB, Su LD, Nikiforov MA, Kaufman RJ, Bastian BC, Soengas MS (2006) Antioncogenic role of the endoplasmic reticulum differentially activated by mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Cell Biol 8:1053–1063
- Depowski PL, Rosenthal SI, Ross JS (2001) Loss of expression of the PTEN gene protein product is associated with poor outcome in breast cancer. Mod Pathol 14:672–676
- Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O, Kolch W (2007) MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 26:3279–3290
- Dhomen N, Reis-Filho JS, da Rocha Dias S, Hayward R, Savage K, Delmas V, Larue L, Pritchard C, Marais R (2009) Oncogenic Braf induces melanocyte senescence and melanoma in mice. Cancer Cell 15:294–303
- Di Cristofano A, Pesce B, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (1998) Pten is essential for embryonic development and tumour suppression. Nat Genet 19:348–355
- Di Cristofano A, De Acetis M, Koff A, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2001) Pten and p27KIP1 cooperate in prostate cancer tumor suppression in the mouse. Nat Genet 27:222–224
- Duerr EM, Rollbrocker B, Hayashi Y, Peters N, Meyer-Puttlitz B, Louis DN, Schramm J, Wiestler OD, Parsons R, Eng C, von Deimling A (1998) PTEN mutations in gliomas and glioneuronal tumors. Oncogene 16:2259–2264
- El Gedaily A, Bubendorf L, Willi N, Fu W, Richter J, Moch H, Mihatsch MJ, Sauter G, Gasser TC (2001) Discovery of new DNA amplification loci in prostate cancer by comparative genomic hybridization. Prostate 46:184–190
- Ellwood-Yen K, Graeber TG, Wongvipat J, Iruela-Arispe ML, Zhang J, Matusik R, Thomas GV, Sawyers CL (2003) Myc-driven murine prostate cancer shares molecular features with human prostate tumors. Cancer Cell 4:223–238
- Engelman JA, Luo J, Cantley LC (2006) The evolution of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases as regulators of growth and metabolism. Nat Rev Genet 7:606–619

- Fang X, Yu S, Eder A, Mao M, Bast RC Jr, Boyd D, Mills GB (1999) Regulation of BAD phosphorylation at serine 112 by the Ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Oncogene 18:6635–6640
- Feilotter HE, Nagai MA, Boag AH, Eng C, Mulligan LM (1998) Analysis of PTEN and the 10q23 region in primary prostate carcinomas. Oncogene 16:1743–1748
- Fisher GH, Wellen SL, Klimstra D, Lenczowski JM, Tichelaar JW, Lizak MJ, Whitsett JA, Koretsky A, Varmus HE (2001) Induction and apoptotic regression of lung adenocarcinomas by regulation of a K-Ras transgene in the presence and absence of tumor suppressor genes. Genes Dev 15:3249–3262
- Ford-Hutchinson AF, Ali Z, Lines SE, Hallgrimsson B, Boyd SK, Jirik FR (2007) Inactivation of Pten in osteo-chondroprogenitor cells leads to epiphyseal growth plate abnormalities and skeletal overgrowth. J Bone Miner Res 22(8):1245–1259
- Fraser MM, Zhu X, Kwon CH, Uhlmann EJ, Gutmann DH, Baker SJ (2004) Pten loss causes hypertrophy and increased proliferation of astrocytes *in vivo*. Cancer Res 64:7773–7779
- Fraser MM, Bayazitov IT, Zakharenko SS, Baker SJ (2008) Phosphatase and tensin homolog, deleted on chromosome 10 deficiency in brain causes defects in synaptic structure, transmission and plasticity, and myelination abnormalities. Neuroscience 151:476–488
- Fujisawa H, Reis RM, Nakamura M, Colella S, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (2000) Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10 is more extensive in primary (de novo) than in secondary glioblastomas. Lab Invest 80:65–72
- Gao X, Zhang Y, Arrazola P, Hino O, Kobayashi T, Yeung RS, Ru B, Pan D (2002) Tsc tumour suppressor proteins antagonize amino-acid-TOR signalling. Nat Cell Biol 4:699–704
- Garami A, Zwartkruis FJ, Nobukuni T, Joaquin M, Roccio M, Stocker H, Kozma SC, Hafen E, Bos JL, Thomas G (2003) Insulin activation of Rheb, a mediator of mTOR/S6K/4E-BP signaling, is inhibited by TSC1 and 2. Mol Cell 11:1457–1466
- Garcia JM, Silva JM, Dominguez G, Gonzalez R, Navarro A, Carretero L, Provencio M, Espana P, Bonilla F (1999) Allelic loss of the PTEN region (10q23) in breast carcinomas of poor pathophenotype. Breast Cancer Res Treat 57:237–243
- Garraway LA, Widlund HR, Rubin MA, Getz G, Berger AJ, Ramaswamy S, Beroukhim R, Milner DA, Granter SR, Du J, Lee C, Wagner SN, Li C, Golub TR, Rimm DL, Meyerson ML, Fisher DE, Sellers WR (2005) Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436:117–122
- Gasser T (2007) Update on the genetics of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 22(Suppl 17): S343–S350
- Georgescu MM, Kirsch KH, Akagi T, Shishido T, Hanafusa H (1999) The tumor-suppressor activity of PTEN is regulated by its carboxyl-terminal region. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:10182–10187
- Georgescu MM, Kirsch KH, Kaloudis P, Yang H, Pavletich NP, Hanafusa H (2000) Stabilization and productive positioning roles of the C2 domain of PTEN tumor suppressor. Cancer Res 60:7033–7038
- Goel VK, Ibrahim N, Jiang G, Singhal M, Fee S, Flotte T, Westmoreland S, Haluska FS, Hinds PW, Haluska FG (2009) Melanocytic nevus-like hyperplasia and melanoma in transgenic BRAFV600E mice. Oncogene 28:2289–2298
- Goffin A, Hoefsloot LH, Bosgoed E, Swillen A, Fryns JP (2001) PTEN mutation in a family with Cowden syndrome and autism. Am J Med Genet 105:521–524
- Gray IC, Stewart LM, Phillips SM, Hamilton JA, Gray NE, Watson GJ, Spurr NK, Snary D (1998) Mutation and expression analysis of the putative prostate tumour-suppressor gene PTEN. Br J Cancer 78:1296–1300
- Groszer M, Erickson R, Scripture-Adams DD, Lesche R, Trumpp A, Zack JA, Kornblum HI, Liu X, Wu H (2001) Negative regulation of neural stem/progenitor cell proliferation by the Pten tumor suppressor gene *in vivo*. Science 294:2186–2189

- Groszer M, Erickson R, Scripture-Adams DD, Dougherty JD, Le Belle J, Zack JA, Geschwind DH, Liu X, Kornblum HI, Wu H (2006) PTEN negatively regulates neural stem cell self-renewal by modulating G0-G1 cell cycle entry. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:111–116
- Gudmundsson J, Sulem P, Manolescu A, Amundadottir LT, Gudbjartsson D, Helgason A, Rafnar T, Bergthorsson JT, Agnarsson BA, Baker A et al (2007) Genome-wide association study identifies a second prostate cancer susceptibility variant at 8q24. Nat Genet 39:631–637
- Guertin DA, Sabatini DM (2007) Defining the role of mTOR in cancer. Cancer Cell 12:9-22
- Guertin DA, Stevens DM, Saitoh M, Kinkel S, Crosby K, Sheen JH, Mullholland DJ, Magnuson MA, Wu H, Sabatini DM (2009) mTOR complex 2 is required for the development of prostate cancer induced by Pten loss in mice. Cancer Cell 15:148–159
- Gupta S, Ramjaun AR, Haiko P, Wang Y, Warne PH, Nicke B, Nye E, Stamp G, Alitalo K, Downward J (2007) Binding of ras to phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110alpha is required for rasdriven tumorigenesis in mice. Cell 129:957–968
- Gurel B, Iwata T, Koh CM, Jenkins RB, Lan F, Van Dang C, Hicks JL, Morgan J, Cornish TC, Sutcliffe S, Isaacs WB, Luo J, De Marzo AM (2008) Nuclear MYC protein overexpression is an early alteration in human prostate carcinogenesis. Mod Pathol 21:1156–1167
- Hagenbeek TJ, Naspetti M, Malergue F, Garcon F, Nunes JA, Cleutjens KB, Trapman J, Krimpenfort P, Spits H (2004) The loss of PTEN allows TCR alphabeta lineage thymocytes to bypass IL-7 and Pre-TCR-mediated signaling. J Exp Med 200(7):883–894
- Hagenbeek TJ, Spits H (2008) T-cell lymphomas in T-cell-specific Pten-deficient mice originate in the thymus. Leukemia 22(3):608–619
- Haiman CA, Patterson N, Freedman ML, Myers SR, Pike MC, Waliszewska A, Neubauer J, Tandon A, Schirmer C, McDonald GJ et al (2007) Multiple regions within 8q24 independently affect risk for prostate cancer. Nat Genet 39:638–644
- Halilovic E, Solit DB (2008) Therapeutic strategies for inhibiting oncogenic BRAF signaling. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8:419–426
- Haluska FG, Tsao H, Wu H, Haluska FS, Lazar A, Goel V (2006) Genetic alterations in signaling pathways in melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 12:2301s–2307s
- Hamada K, Sasaki T, Koni PA, Natsui M, Kishimoto H, Sasaki J, Yajima N, Horie Y, Hasegawa G, Naito M et al (2005) The PTEN/PI3K pathway governs normal vascular development and tumor angiogenesis. Genes Dev 19(17):2054–2065
- Han S, Ritzenthaler JD, Zheng Y, Roman J (2008) PPAR{beta}/{delta}agonist stimulates human lung carcinoma cell growth through inhibition of PTEN expression: the involvement of PI3-K and NF-{kappa}B signals. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294:L1238–L1249
- Herman GE, Butter E, Enrile B, Pastore M, Prior TW, Sommer A (2007) Increasing knowledge of PTEN germline mutations: Two additional patients with autism and macrocephaly. Am J Med Genet A 143:589–593
- Hernando E, Charytonowicz E, Dudas ME, Menendez S, Matushansky I, Mills J, Socci ND, Behrendt N, Ma L, Maki RG, Pandolfi PP, Cordon-Cardo C (2007) The AKT-mTOR pathway plays a critical role in the development of leiomyosarcomas. Nat Med 13:748–753
- Horie Y, Suzuki A, Kataoka E, Sasaki T, Hamada K, Sasaki J, Mizuno K, Hasegawa G, Kishimoto H, Iizuka M, Naito M, Enomoto K, Watanabe S, Mak TW, Nakano T (2004) Hepatocyte-specific Pten deficiency results in steatohepatitis and hepatocellular carcinomas. J Clin Invest 113:1774–1783
- Iida S, Tanaka Y, Fujii H, Hayashi S, Kimura M, Nagareda T, Moriwaki K (1998) A heterozygous frameshift mutation of the PTEN/MMAC1 gene in a patient with Lhermitte-Duclos disease – only the mutated allele was expressed in the cerebellar tumor. Int J Mol Med 1:925–929
- Iida S, Ono A, Sayama K, Hamaguchi T, Fujii H, Nakajima H, Namba M, Hanafusa T, Matsuzawa Y, Moriwaki K (2000) Accelerated decline of blood glucose after intravenous glucose injection in a patient with Cowden disease having a heterozygous germline mutation of the PTEN/ MMAC1 gene. Anticancer Res 20:1901–1904
- Inoki K, Li Y, Xu T, Guan KL (2003) Rheb GTPase is a direct target of TSC2 GAP activity and regulates mTOR signaling. Genes Dev 17:1829–1834
- Inoue-Narita T, Hamada K, Sasaki T, Hatakeyama S, Fujita S, Kawahara K, Sasaki M, Kishimoto H, Eguchi S, Kojima I et al (2008) Pten deficiency in melanocytes results in resistance to hair

graying and susceptibility to carcinogen-induced melanomagenesis. Cancer Res 68(14):5760–5768

- Jaeschke A, Hartkamp J, Saitoh M, Roworth W, Nobukuni T, Hodges A, Sampson J, Thomas G, Lamb R (2002) Tuberous sclerosis complex tumor suppressor-mediated S6 kinase inhibition by phosphatidylinositide-3-OH kinase is mTOR independent. J Cell Biol 159:217–224
- Jemal A, Murray T, Ward E, Samuels A, Tiwari RC, Ghafoor A, Feuer EJ, Thun MJ (2005) Cancer statistics, 2005. CA Cancer J Clin 55:10–30
- Jia S, Liu Z, Zhang S, Liu P, Zhang L, Lee SH, Zhang J, Signoretti S, Loda M, Roberts TM, Zhao JJ (2008) Essential roles of PI(3)K-p110beta in cell growth, metabolism and tumorigenesis. Nature 454:776–779
- Johnson L, Mercer K, Greenbaum D, Bronson RT, Crowley D, Tuveson DA, Jacks T (2001) Somatic activation of the K-ras oncogene causes early onset lung cancer in mice. Nature 410:1111–1116
- Kato H, Kato S, Kumabe T, Sonoda Y, Yoshimoto T, Han SY, Suzuki T, Shibata H, Kanamaru R, Ishioka C (2000) Functional evaluation of p53 and PTEN gene mutations in gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 6:3937–3943
- Kim J, Eltoum IE, Roh M, Wang J, Abdulkadir SA (2009) Interactions between cells with distinct mutations in c-MYC and Pten in prostate cancer. PLoS Genet 5:e1000542
- Kimura T, Suzuki A, Fujita Y, Yomogida K, Lomeli H, Asada N, Ikeuchi M, Nagy A, Mak TW, Nakano T (2003) Conditional loss of PTEN leads to testicular teratoma and enhances embryonic germ cell production. Development 130:1691–1700
- Klinghoffer RA, Duckworth B, Valius M, Cantley L, Kazlauskas A (1996) Platelet-derived growth factor-dependent activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is regulated by receptor binding of SH2-domain-containing proteins which influence Ras activity. Mol Cell Biol 16:5905–5914
- Knobbe CB, Merlo A, Reifenberger G (2002) Pten signaling in gliomas. Neuro Oncol 4:196-211
- Koul A, Willen R, Bendahl PO, Nilbert M, Borg A (2002) Distinct sets of gene alterations in endometrial carcinoma implicate alternate modes of tumorigenesis. Cancer 94:2369–2379
- Kurlawalla-Martinez C, Stiles B, Wang Y, Devaskar SU, Kahn BB, Wu H (2005) Insulin hypersensitivity and resistance to streptozotocin-induced diabetes in mice lacking PTEN in adipose tissue. Mol Cell Biol 25(6):2498–2510
- Kuroda S, Nishio M, Sasaki T, Horie Y, Kawahara K, Sasaki M, Natsui M, Matozaki T, Tezuka H, Ohteki T, Forster, I, Mak TW, Nakano T, Suzuki A (2008) Effective clearance of intracellular Leishmania major in vivo requires Pten in macrophages. Eur J Immunol 38 (5):1331–1340
- Kurose K, Gilley K, Matsumoto S, Watson PH, Zhou XP, Eng C (2002) Frequent somatic mutations in PTEN and TP53 are mutually exclusive in the stroma of breast carcinomas. Nat Genet 32:355–357
- Kwon CH, Zhu X, Zhang J, Knoop LL, Tharp R, Smeyne RJ, Eberhart CG, Burger PC, Baker SJ (2001) Pten regulates neuronal soma size: a mouse model of Lhermitte-Duclos disease. Nat Genet 29:404–411
- Kwon CH, Luikart BW, Powell CM, Zhou J, Matheny SA, Zhang W, Li Y, Baker SJ, Parada LF (2006) Pten regulates neuronal arborization and social interaction in mice. Neuron 50:377–388
- Levine AJ, Finlay CA, Hinds PW (2004) P53 is a tumor suppressor gene. Cell 116:S67–S69, 61 p following S69
- Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, Puc J, Miliaresis C, Rodgers L, McCombie R, Bigner SH, Giovanella BC, Ittmann M, Tycko B, Hibshoosh H, Wigler MH, Parsons R (1997) PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science 275:1943–1947
- Li G, Robinson GW, Lesche R, Martinez-Diaz H, Jiang Z, Rozengurt N, Wagner KU, Wu DC, Lane TF, Liu X, Hennighausen L, Wu H (2002) Conditional loss of PTEN leads to precocious development and neoplasia in the mammary gland. Development 129:4159–4170
- Liaw D, Marsh DJ, Li J, Dahia PL, Wang SI, Zheng Z, Bose S, Call KM, Tsou HC, Peacocke M, Eng C, Parsons R (1997) Germline mutations of the PTEN gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. Nat Genet 16:64–67

- Lin WM, Forgacs E, Warshal DP, Yeh IT, Martin JS, Ashfaq R, Muller CY (1998) Loss of heterozygosity and mutational analysis of the PTEN/MMAC1 gene in synchronous endometrial and ovarian carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res 4:2577–2583
- Liu W, James CD, Frederick L, Alderete BE, Jenkins RB (1997) PTEN/MMAC1 mutations and EGFR amplification in glioblastomas. Cancer Res 57:5254–5257
- Liu X, Bruxvoort KJ, Zylstra CR, Liu J, Cichowski R, Faugere MC, Bouxsein ML, Wan C, Williams BO, Clemens TL (2007) Lifelong accumulation of bone in mice lacking Pten in osteoblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104(7):2259–2264
- Luchman HA, Benediktsson H, Villemaire ML, Peterson AC, Jirik FR (2008) The pace of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia development is determined by the timing of Pten tumor suppressor gene excision. PLoS One 3:e3940
- Ma L, Chen Z, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Pandolfi PP (2005a) Phosphorylation and functional inactivation of TSC2 by Erk implications for tuberous sclerosis and cancer pathogenesis. Cell 121:179–193
- Ma L, Teruya-Feldstein J, Behrendt N, Chen Z, Noda T, Hino O, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2005b) Genetic analysis of Pten and Tsc2 functional interactions in the mouse reveals asymmetrical haploinsufficiency in tumor suppression. Genes Dev 19:1779–1786
- Ma X, Ziel-van der Made AC, Autar B, van der Korput HA, Vermeij M, van Duijn P, Cleutjens KB, de Krijger R, Krimpenfort P, Berns A, van der Kwast TH, Trapman J (2005c) Targeted biallelic inactivation of Pten in the mouse prostate leads to prostate cancer accompanied by increased epithelial cell proliferation but not by reduced apoptosis. Cancer Res 65:5730–5739
- Maehama T, Dixon JE (1998) The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J Biol Chem 273:13375–13378
- Manning BD, Cantley LC (2007) AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell 129:1261-1274
- Manning BD, Logsdon MN, Lipovsky AI, Abbott D, Kwiatkowski DJ, Cantley LC (2005) Feedback inhibition of Akt signaling limits the growth of tumors lacking Tsc2. Genes Dev 19:1773–1778
- Marandola P, Bonghi A, Jallous H, Bombardelli E, Morazzoni P, Gerardini M, Tiscione D, Albergati F (2004) Molecular biology and the staging of prostate cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1028:294–312
- Marino S, Krimpenfort P, Leung C, van der Korput HA, Trapman J, Camenisch I, Berns A, Brandner S (2002) PTEN is essential for cell migration but not for fate determination and tumourigenesis in the cerebellum. Development 129:3513–3522
- Marsh DJ, Dahia PL, Zheng Z, Liaw D, Parsons R, Gorlin RJ, Eng C (1997) Germline mutations in PTEN are present in Bannayan-Zonana syndrome. Nat Genet 16:333–334
- Michaloglou C, Vredeveld LC, Soengas MS, Denoyelle C, Kuilman T, van der Horst CM, Majoor DM, Shay JW, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS (2005) BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature 436:720–724
- Moodie SA, Willumsen BM, Weber MJ, Wolfman A (1993) Complexes of Ras.GTP with Raf-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. Science 260:1658–1661
- Nardella C, Chen Z, Salmena L, Carracedo A, Alimonti A, Egia A, Carver B, Gerald W, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2008) Aberrant Rheb-mediated mTORC1 activation and Pten haploinsufficiency are cooperative oncogenic events. Genes Dev 22:2172–2177
- Nardella C, Carracedo A, Alimonti A, Hobbs RM, Clohessy JG, Chen Z, Egia A, Fornari A, Fiorentino M, Loda M, Kozma SC, Thomas G, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2009) Differential requirement of mTOR in postmitotic tissues and tumorigenesis. Sci Signal 2:ra2
- Nguyen KT, Tajmir P, Lin CH, Liadis N, Zhu XD, Eweida M, Tolasa-Karaman G, Cai F, Wang R, Kitamura T et al (2006) Essential role of Pten in body size determination and pancreatic betacell homeostasis in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 26(12):4511–4518
- Perner S, Mosquera JM, Demichelis F, Hofer MD, Paris PL, Simko J, Collins C, Bismar TA, Chinnaiyan AM, De Marzo AM, Rubin MA (2007) TMPRSS2-ERG fusion prostate cancer: an early molecular event associated with invasion. Am J Surg Pathol 31:882–888

- Perren A, Weng LP, Boag AH, Ziebold U, Thakore K, Dahia PL, Komminoth P, Lees JA, Mulligan LM, Mutter GL, Eng C (1999) Immunohistochemical evidence of loss of PTEN expression in primary ductal adenocarcinomas of the breast. Am J Pathol 155:1253–1260
- Plum L, Ma X, Hampel B, Balthasar N, Coppari R, Munzberg H, Shanabrough M, Burdakov D, Rother E, Janoschek R et al (2006) Enhanced PIP3 signaling in POMC neurons causes KATP channel activation and leads to diet-sensitive obesity. J Clin Invest 116(7):1886–1901
- Podsypanina K, Ellenson LH, Nemes A, Gu J, Tamura M, Yamada KM, Cordon-Cardo C, Catoretti G, Fisher PE, Parsons R (1999) Mutation of Pten/Mmac1 in mice causes neoplasia in multiple organ systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:1563–1568
- Poliseno L, Salmena L, Riccardi L, Fornari A, Song MS, Hobbs RM, Sportoletti P, Varmeh S, Egia A, Fedele G, Rameh L, Loda M, Pandolfi PP (2010) Identification of the miR-106b~25 microRNA cluster as a proto-oncogenic PTEN-targeting intron that cooperates with its host gene MCM7 in transformation. Sci Signal 3(117):ra29
- Pomerantz MM, Beckwith CA, Regan MM, Wyman SK, Petrovics G, Chen Y, Hawksworth DJ, Schumacher FR, Mucci L, Penney KL et al (2009) Evaluation of the 8q24 prostate cancer risk locus and MYC expression. Cancer Res 69:5568–5574
- Puzio-Kuter AM, Castillo-Martin M, Kinkade CW, Wang X, Shen TH, Matos T, Shen MM, Cordon-Cardo C, Abate-Shen C (2009) Inactivation of p53 and Pten promotes invasive bladder cancer. Genes Dev 23:675–680
- Qian J, Jenkins RB, Bostwick DG (1997) Detection of chromosomal anomalies and c-myc gene amplification in the cribriform pattern of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and carcinoma by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Mod Pathol 10:1113–1119
- Rasheed BK, Stenzel TT, McLendon RE, Parsons R, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, Bigner DD, Bigner SH (1997) PTEN gene mutations are seen in high-grade but not in low-grade gliomas. Cancer Res 57:4187–4190
- Ratnacaram CK, Teletin M, Jiang M, Meng X, Chambon P, Metzger D (2008) Temporally controlled ablation of PTEN in adult mouse prostate epithelium generates a model of invasive prostatic adenocarcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:2521–2526
- Reddy P, Liu L, Adhikari D, Jagarlamudi K, Rajareddy S, Shen Y, Du C, Tang W, Hamalainen T, Peng SL et al (2008) Oocyte-specific deletion of Pten causes premature activation of the primordial follicle pool. Science 319(5863):611–613
- Rubin MA, Gerstein A, Reid K, Bostwick DG, Cheng L, Parsons R, Papadopoulos N (2000) 10q23.3 loss of heterozygosity is higher in lymph node-positive (pT2–3, N+) versus lymph node-negative (pT2–3, N0) prostate cancer. Hum Pathol 31:504–508
- Saal LH, Holm K, Maurer M, Memeo L, Su T, Wang X, Yu JS, Malmstrom PO, Mansukhani M, Enoksson J, Hibshoosh H, Borg A, Parsons R (2005) PIK3CA mutations correlate with hormone receptors, node metastasis, and ERBB2, and are mutually exclusive with PTEN loss in human breast carcinoma. Cancer Res 65:2554–2559
- Saal LH, Gruvberger-Saal SK, Persson C, Lovgren K, Jumppanen M, Staaf J, Jonsson G, Pires MM, Maurer M, Holm K et al (2008) Recurrent gross mutations of the PTEN tumor suppressor gene in breast cancers with deficient DSB repair. Nat Genet 40:102–107
- Salmena L, Carracedo A, Pandolfi PP (2008) Tenets of PTEN tumor suppression. Cell 133:403-414
- Samuels Y, Velculescu VE (2004) Oncogenic mutations of PIK3CA in human cancers. Cell Cycle 3:1221–1224
- Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM (2005) Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/ PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307:1098–1101
- Schrager CA, Schneider D, Gruener AC, Tsou HC, Peacocke M (1998) Clinical and pathological features of breast disease in Cowden's syndrome: an underrecognized syndrome with an increased risk of breast cancer. Hum Pathol 29:47–53
- Shao X, Tandon R, Samara G, Kanki H, Yano H, Close LG, Parsons R, Sato T (1998) Mutational analysis of the PTEN gene in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer 77:684–688 Simpson L, Parsons R (2001) PTEN: life as a tumor suppressor. Exp Cell Res 264:29–41
- Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, Hastie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Thorsen T, Quist H, Matese JC, Brown PO, Botstein D, Eystein Lonning P,

Borresen-Dale AL (2001) Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:10869–10874

- Stambolic V, Suzuki A, de la Pompa JL, Brothers GM, Mirtsos C, Sasaki T, Ruland J, Penninger JM, Siderovski DP, Mak TW (1998) Negative regulation of PKB/Akt-dependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN. Cell 95:29–39
- Stanger BZ, Stiles B, Lauwers GY, Bardeesy N, Mendoza M, Wang Y, Greenwood A, Cheng KH, McLaughlin M, Brown D et al (2005) Pten constrains centroacinar cell expansion and malignant transformation in the pancreas. Cancer Cell 8(3):185–195
- Stambolic V, Tsao MS, Macpherson D, Suzuki A, Chapman WB, Mak TW (2000) High incidence of breast and endometrial neoplasia resembling human Cowden syndrome in pten+/- mice. Cancer Res 60:3605–3611
- Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA, Yung WK, Lin H, Ligon AH, Langford LA, Baumgard ML, Hattier T, Davis T, Frye C, Hu R, Swedlund B, Teng DH, Tavtigian SV (1997) Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nat Genet 15:356–362
- Stiles B, Wang Y, Stahl A, Bassilian S, Lee WP, Kim YJ, Sherwin R, Devaskar S, Lesche R, Magnuson MA, Wu H (2004) Liver-specific deletion of negative regulator Pten results in fatty liver and insulin hypersensitivity [corrected]. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:2082–2087
- Stiles BL, Kuralwalla-Martinez C, Guo W, Gregorian C, Wang Y, Tian J, Magnuson MA, Wu H (2006) Selective deletion of Pten in pancreatic beta cells leads to increased islet mass and resistance to STZ-induced diabetes. Mol Cell Biol 26:2772–2781
- Subramanian KK, Jia Y, Zhu D, Simms BT, Jo H, Hattori H, You J, Mizgerd JP, Luo HR (2007) Tumor suppressor PTEN is a physiologic suppressor of chemoattractant-mediated neutrophil functions. Blood 109(9):4028–4037
- Suzuki A, de la Pompa JL, Stambolic V, Elia AJ, Sasaki T, del Barco Barrantes I, Ho A, Wakeham A, Itie A, Khoo W, Fukumoto M, Mak TW (1998) High cancer susceptibility and embryonic lethality associated with mutation of the PTEN tumor suppressor gene in mice. Curr Biol 8:1169–1178
- Suzuki A, Hamada K, Sasaki T, Mak TW, Nakano T (2007) Role of PTEN/PI3K pathway in endothelial cells. Biochem Soc Trans 35(Pt 2):172–176
- Suzuki A, Itami S, Ohishi M, Hamada K, Inoue T, Komazawa N, Senoo H, Sasaki T, Takeda J, Manabe M, Mak TW, Nakano T (2003) Keratinocyte-specific Pten deficiency results in epidermal hyperplasia, accelerated hair follicle morphogenesis and tumor formation. Cancer Res 63(3):674-681
- Suzuki A, Sasaki T, Mak TW, Nakano T (2004) Functional analysis of the tumour suppressor gene PTEN in murine B cells and keratinocytes. Biochem Soc Trans 32:362–365
- Suzuki A, Yamaguchi MT, Ohteki T, Sasaki T, Kaisho T, Kimura Y, Yoshida R, Wakeham A, Higuchi T, Fukumoto M et al (2001) T cell-specific loss of Pten leads to defects in central and peripheral tolerance. Immunity 14(5):523–534
- Tapon N, Ito N, Dickson BJ, Treisman JE, Hariharan IK (2001) The Drosophila tuberous sclerosis complex gene homologs restrict cell growth and cell proliferation. Cell 105:345–355
- Tashiro H, Blazes MS, Wu R, Cho KR, Bose S, Wang SI, Li J, Parsons R, Ellenson LH (1997) Mutations in PTEN are frequent in endometrial carcinoma but rare in other common gynecological malignancies. Cancer Res 57:3935–3940
- Taube JM, Begum S, Shi C, Eshleman JR, Westra WH (2009) Benign nodal nevi frequently harbor the activating V600E BRAF mutation. Am J Surg Pathol 33:568–571
- Tee AR, Fingar DC, Manning BD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Cantley LC, Blenis J (2002) Tuberous sclerosis complex-1 and -2 gene products function together to inhibit mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-mediated downstream signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:13571–13576
- Teng DH, Hu R, Lin H, Davis T, Iliev D, Frye C, Swedlund B, Hansen KL, Vinson VL, Gumpper KL et al (1997) MMAC1/PTEN mutations in primary tumor specimens and tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 57:5221–5225
- Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, Varambally S, Cao X, Tchinda J, Kuefer R, Lee C, Montie JE, Shah RB, Pienta KJ, Rubin MA, Chinnaiyan AM (2005) Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science 310:644–648

- Trotman LC, Niki M, Dotan ZA, Koutcher JA, Di Cristofano A, Xiao A, Khoo AS, Roy-Burman P, Greenberg NM, Van Dyke T, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2003) Pten dose dictates cancer progression in the prostate. PLoS Biol 1:E59
- Tsao H, Zhang X, Fowlkes K, Haluska FG (2000) Relative reciprocity of NRAS and PTEN/ MMAC1 alterations in cutaneous melanoma cell lines. Cancer Res 60:1800–1804
- Tsuchiya N, Kondo Y, Takahashi A, Pawar H, Qian J, Sato K, Lieber MM, Jenkins RB (2002) Mapping and gene expression profile of the minimally overrepresented 8q24 region in prostate cancer. Am J Pathol 160:1799–1806
- Tsuruta H, Kishimoto H, Sasaki T, Horie Y, Natsui M, Shibata Y, Hamada K, Yajima N, Kawahara K, Sasaki M et al (2006) Hyperplasia and carcinomas in Pten-deficient mice and reduced PTEN protein in human bladder cancer patients. Cancer Res 66(17):8389–8396
- Vasudevan KM, Burikhanov R, Goswami A, Rangnekar VM (2007) Suppression of PTEN expression is essential for antiapoptosis and cellular transformation by oncogenic Ras. Cancer Res 67:10343–10350
- Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ (2000) Surfing the p53 network. Nature 408:307-310
- Wang SI, Puc J, Li J, Bruce JN, Cairns P, Sidransky D, Parsons R (1997) Somatic mutations of PTEN in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 57:4183–4186
- Wang S, Gao J, Lei Q, Rozengurt N, Pritchard C, Jiao J, Thomas GV, Li G, Roy-Burman P, Nelson PS, Liu X, Wu H (2003) Prostate-specific deletion of the murine Pten tumor suppressor gene leads to metastatic prostate cancer. Cancer Cell 4:209–221
- Wiencke JK, Zheng S, Jelluma N, Tihan T, Vandenberg S, Tamguney T, Baumber R, Parsons R, Lamborn KR, Berger MS, Wrensch MR, Haas-Kogan DA, Stokoe D (2007) Methylation of the PTEN promoter defines low-grade gliomas and secondary glioblastoma. Neuro Oncol 9:271–279
- Wijesekara N, Konrad D, Eweida M, Jefferies C, Liadis N, Giacca A, Crackower M, Suzuki A, Mak TW, Kahn CR, Klip A, Woo M (2005) Muscle-specific Pten deletion protects against insulin resistance and diabetes. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1135–1145
- Witte JS (2007) Multiple prostate cancer risk variants on 8q24. Nat Genet 39:579-580
- Wu X, Wu J, Huang J, Powell WC, Zhang J, Matusik RJ, Sangiorgi FO, Maxson RE, Sucov HM, Roy-Burman P (2001) Generation of a prostate epithelial cell-specific Cre transgenic mouse model for tissue-specific gene ablation. Mech Dev 101:61–69
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN (2006) TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell 124:471-484
- Yanagi S, Kishimoto H, Kawahara K, Sasaki T, Sasaki M, Nishio M, Yajima N, Hamada K, Horie Y, Kubo H, Whitsett JA, Mak TW, Nakano T, Nakazato M, Suzuki A (2007) Pten controls lung morphogenesis, bronchioalveolar stem cells, and onset of lung adenocarcinomas in mice. J Clin Invest 117(10):2929–2940
- Yang H, Kong W, He L, Zhao JJ, O'Donnell JD, Wang J, Wenham RM, Coppola D, Kruk PA, Nicosia SV, Cheng JQ (2008) MicroRNA expression profiling in human ovarian cancer: miR-214 induces cell survival and cisplatin resistance by targeting PTEN. Cancer Res 68:425–433
- Yeager M, Orr N, Hayes RB, Jacobs KB, Kraft P, Wacholder S, Minichiello MJ, Fearnhead P, Yu K, Chatterjee N et al (2007) Genome-wide association study of prostate cancer identifies a second risk locus at 8q24. Nat Genet 39:645–649
- Yilmaz OH, Valdez R, Theisen BK, Guo W, Ferguson DO, Wu H, Morrison SJ (2006) Pten dependence distinguishes haematopoietic stem cells from leukaemia-initiating cells. Nature 441:475–482
- Yoo LI, Liu DW, Le Vu S, Bronson RT, Wu H, Yuan J (2006) Pten deficiency activates distinct downstream signaling pathways in a tissue-specific manner. Cancer Res 66(4):1929–1939
- Yue Q, Groszer M, Gil JS, Berk AJ, Messing A, Wu H, Liu X (2005) PTEN deletion in Bergmann glia leads to premature differentiation and affects laminar organization. Development 132:3281–3291
- Zhang J, Grindley JC, Yin T, Jayasinghe S, He XC, Ross JT, Haug JS, Rupp D, Porter-Westpfahl KS, Wiedemann LM, Wu H, Li L (2006) PTEN maintains haematopoietic stem cells and acts in lineage choice and leukaemia prevention. Nature 441(7092):518–522

- Zhang X, Lee C, Ng PY, Rubin M, Shabsigh A, Buttyan R (2000) Prostatic neoplasia in transgenic mice with prostate-directed overexpression of the c-myc oncoprotein. Prostate 43:278–285
- Zhang Y, Gao X, Saucedo LJ, Ru B, Edgar BA, Pan D (2003) Rheb is a direct target of the tuberous sclerosis tumour suppressor proteins. Nat Cell Biol 5:578–581
- Zheng H, Ying H, Yan H, Kimmelman AC, Hiller DJ, Chen AJ, Perry SR, Tonon G, Chu GC, Ding Z et al (2008) p53 and Pten control neural and glioma stem/progenitor cell renewal and differentiation. Nature 455:1129–1133
- Zhou XP, Marsh DJ, Hampel H, Mulliken JB, Gimm O, Eng C (2000) Germline and germline mosaic PTEN mutations associated with a Proteus-like syndrome of hemihypertrophy, lower limb asymmetry, arteriovenous malformations and lipomatosis. Hum Mol Genet 9:765–768
- Zhou X, Hampel H, Thiele H, Gorlin RJ, Hennekam RC, Parisi M, Winter RM, Eng C (2001) Association of germline mutation in the PTEN tumour suppressor gene and Proteus and Proteus-like syndromes. Lancet 358:210–211
- Zhou XP, Kuismanen S, Nystrom-Lahti M, Peltomaki P, Eng C (2002) Distinct PTEN mutational spectra in hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer syndrome-related endometrial carcinomas compared to sporadic microsatellite unstable tumors. Hum Mol Genet 11:445–450
- Zhou XP, Marsh DJ, Morrison CD, Chaudhury AR, Maxwell M, Reifenberger G, Eng C (2003) Germline inactivation of PTEN and dysregulation of the phosphoinositol-3-kinase/Akt pathway cause human Lhermitte-Duclos disease in adults. Am J Hum Genet 73:1191–1198
- Zhu D, Hattori H, Jo H, Jia Y, Subramanian KK, Loison F, You J, Le Y, Honczarenko M, Silberstein L, Luo HR (2006) Deactivation of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate/Akt signaling mediates neutrophil spontaneous death. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103(40):14836–14841